### UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-18-2016

# State v. Fuller Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44172

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Nature Of The Case

The state appeals the district court's order granting suppression of evidence. Specifically, the state challenges the district court's holding that seeing Fuller's car tires cross over the white line marking the right edge of the road did not provide reasonable suspicion to conduct a traffic stop.

#### Statement Of The Facts And Course Of The Proceedings

Deputy Ballman pulled over a Chevy Tahoe for failure to maintain its lane of travel. (R., pp. 7-8.) The driver verbally identified herself as Antonia K. Fuller. (R., p. 8.) Fuller did not have a driver's license or insurance documentation. (Id.) Dispatch indicated her license was invalid. (Id.) Deputy Ballman arrested Fuller and thereafter conducted an inventory search of her vehicle. (Id.) He found methamphetamine, pills and drug paraphernalia. (Id.)

The state charged Fuller with two felony counts of possession of methamphetamine and possession of Hydrocodone and misdemeanor counts of possession of drug paraphernalia, failure to provide proof of insurance and failure to purchase a driver's license. (R., pp. 54-56.) Fuller moved to suppress evidence, claiming "the traffic stop was unlawful." (R., pp. 52-53, 59-63.) The parties stipulated that Fuller "did, in fact, cross the fog line with her tire and that she did not have her turn signal on when she did so." (3/28/16 Tr., p. 3, L. 10 – p. 4, L. 1.) The district court granted the suppression motion after concluding that crossing over the fog line was not a traffic offense, and therefore the officer

lacked reasonable suspicion to stop Fuller's car. (4/1/16 Tr., p. 3, L. 10 - p. 7, L. 22; R., p. 84. The state filed a timely notice of appeal. (R., pp. 5, 87.<sup>1</sup>)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A copy of the notice of appeal was not included in the record provided on appeal. The state is, contemporaneously with the filing of this brief, filing a motion to augment with a copy of the notice.

## <u>ISSUE</u>

Did the district court err when it concluded that seeing Fuller's tires cross the white line marking the right edge of the road did not provide reasonable, articulable suspicion for the traffic stop?

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### <u>The District Court Erred When It Concluded That Seeing Fuller's Tires Cross The</u> <u>White Line Marking The Right Edge Of The Road Did Not Provide Reasonable,</u> <u>Articulable Suspicion For The Traffic Stop</u>

#### A. <u>Introduction</u>

In concluding that crossing the fog line does not provide reasonable suspicion a motorist is not driving in a single lane of travel, the district court relied on <u>State v. Neal</u>, 159 Idaho 439, 362 P.3d 514 (2015). (4/1/16 Tr., p. 4, Ls. 19-23.) The district court concluded that "the overall reading of the Neal case" leads to the legal conclusion that "the fog line is not a road barrier; the fog line is, in fact, a warning that one is getting near the road barrier." (4/1/16 Tr., p. 5, Ls. 18-25.) The district court then concluded there was no reasonable suspicion because Fuller "did not drive off the road" and therefore her "vehicle did not leave its lane of travel." (4/1/16 Tr., p. 6, Ls. 1-11.) The district court's holding is not consistent with the language or analysis of the majority opinion in <u>Neal</u>, and is directly contrary to controlling authority of the Idaho Court of Appeals.

#### B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

"The standard of review of a suppression motion is bifurcated. When a decision on a motion to suppress is challenged, we accept the trial court's findings of fact that are supported by substantial evidence, but we freely review the application of constitutional principles to the facts as found." <u>State v. Colvin</u>, 157 Idaho 881, 882, 341 P.3d 598, 599 (Ct. App. 2014).

#### C. The District Court Erred When It Failed To Follow The Holding In Neal

"A traffic stop by an officer constitutes a seizure of the vehicle's occupants and implicates the Fourth Amendment's prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures." <u>State v. Young</u>, 144 Idaho 646, 648, 167 P.3d 783, 785 (Ct. App. 2006) (citing <u>Delaware v. Prouse</u>, 440 U.S. 648, 653 (1979)). Ordinarily, a warrantless seizure must be based on probable cause to be reasonable. <u>Florida v. Royer</u>, 460 U.S. 491, 499-500 (1983); <u>State v. Bishop</u>, 146 Idaho 804, 811, 203 P.3d 1203, 1210 (2009). However, limited investigatory detentions, based on less than probable cause, are permissible when justified by an officer's reasonable, articulable suspicion that a person has committed, or is about to commit, a crime. <u>Royer</u>, 460 U.S.at 498; <u>Bishop</u>, 146 Idaho at 811, 203 P.3d at 1210.

"An officer may also stop a vehicle to investigate possible criminal behavior if there is reasonable articulable suspicion that the vehicle is being driven contrary to traffic laws." Young, 144 Idaho at 648, 167 P.3d at 785 (citing <u>United States v. Cortez</u>, 449 U.S. 411 (1981)). "Reasonable suspicion requires less than probable cause but more than speculation or instinct on the part of the officer." <u>State v. Horton</u>, 150 Idaho 300, 302, 246 P.3d 673, 675 (Ct. App. 2010) (citation omitted). Whether an officer possessed reasonable suspicion is evaluated based on the totality of the circumstances known to the officer at or before the time of the stop. <u>Bishop</u>, 146 Idaho at 811, 203 P.3d at 1210; <u>State v. Sheldon</u>, 139 Idaho 980, 983, 88 P.3d 1220, 1223 (Ct. App. 2003). Here the officer observed Fuller drive her vehicle over the line marking the right edge of

the roadway. (3/28/16 Tr., p. 3, L. 10 - p. 4, L. 1.) The officer therefore had reasonable suspicion Fuller had violated I.C. § 49-630(1) (vehicle to be driven on right half of roadway) and I.C. § 49-637 (driver to maintain lane of traffic).

The district court acknowledged there was "one bit of language" in <u>Neal</u> supporting the state's argument that by driving over, as opposed to on, the line Fuller violated I.C. §§ 49-630(1) and 49-637. (4/1/16 Tr., p. 5, Ls. 8-18.) That bit of language is the holding: "We hold that driving onto but not across the line marking the right edge of the road does not violate Idaho Code section 49-637 ....." <u>Neal</u>, 159 Idaho at 447, 362 P.3d at 522. Contrary to the district court's analysis, nothing in the opinion suggests that driving "across the line marking the right edge of the road" does not violate I.C. §§ 49-630(1) and 49-637. <u>Id.</u> Because Fuller drove "across the line marking the right edge of the road" she left the travelled roadway, went onto the shoulder, and therefore violated I.C. §§ 49-630(1) and 49-637. <u>Id.</u> The district court erred by expanding the holding of <u>Neal</u> to crossing the line marking the right edge of the road when the Idaho Supreme Court specifically limited that holding to driving on, and not over, that line.

Moreover, there is Idaho authority on the question addressed by the district court. In <u>State v. Slater</u>, 136 Idaho 293, 298, 32 P.3d 685, 690 (Ct. App. 2001), the Idaho Court of Appeals held that "when Officer Burns observed Slater's tires cross the fog line, albeit fleetingly, Burns now possessed the requisite reasonable suspicion that Slater had violated I.C. § 49-630 by driving on the shoulder of the highway, rather than on the 'roadway.'" (citing <u>State v. Dewbre</u>, 133 Idaho 663, 665-67, 991 P.2d 388, 390-92 (Ct. App. 1999)). This

holding was not called into question by the holding or analysis in <u>Neal</u>, and has, since <u>Neal</u> was decided, been reaffirmed by the Idaho Court of Appeals. <u>State v.</u> <u>Garcia-Rodriguez</u>, 2016 WL 3223372 (Idaho App. 2016), *pet. rev. pending*.

In this case the officer observed Fuller's vehicle cross "the line marking the right edge of the road." <u>Neal</u>, 159 Idaho at 447, 362 P.3d at 522. She was, therefore, temporarily out of her lane of travel and off the roadway. <u>Slater</u>, 136 Idaho at 298, 32 P.3d at 690. The officer therefore had reasonable suspicion and conducted the traffic stop consistent with the Fourth Amendment. The district court erred by holding otherwise.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The state respectfully requests this Court to reverse the district court's order suppressing evidence and remand the case for further proceedings.