Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-14-2016

State v. Fuller Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44172

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Antonia Kate Fuller asserts that the State has failed to demonstrate error in the district court's order granting her motion to suppress. The district court suppressed evidence seized after Ms. Fuller was stopped for crossing the line on the right side of the roadway. Ms. Fuller's vehicle was searched pursuant to an inventory search and methamphetamine, prescription drugs, and drug paraphernalia were located in the vehicle. The district court suppressed the evidence, finding that the officer did not have reasonable, articulable suspicion that Ms. Fuller was violating the law.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

Officer Harvey Ballman observed a vehicle being driven by Antonia Kate Fuller cross the fog line and then again touch the fog line. (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 1.) Ms. Fuller was not weaving within her lane of travel and she did not swerve; however, the road curved to the right and her tires touched and crossed the fog line. (3/28/16 Tr., p.6, Ls.1-8.) Officer Ballman stopped the vehicle for failing to maintain the lane of travel, a violation of I.C. § 49-637. (R., pp.7-8.) Ms. Fuller had an invalid driver's license and did not have insurance. (R., pp.7-8.) Officer Ballman arrested Ms. Fuller for the invalid driver's license and failing to display insurance. (R., pp.7-8.)

When an inventory search was performed on Ms. Fuller's vehicle, officers found drug paraphernalia, methamphetamine, and two Hydrocodone pills. (R., p.8.) Based on these facts, Ms. Fuller was charged by Information with one count of possession of

methamphetamine, one count of possession of drug paraphernalia, one count of invalid driver's license, and one count of failing to maintain insurance. (R., pp.54-56.)

Thereafter, Ms. Fuller moved to suppress the evidence arguing, in part, that she was seized in violation of her rights under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 17 of the Idaho Constitution, and the evidence gathered against her should be suppressed as fruits of the unlawful seizure. (R., pp.52-53, 56-63.)

The district court held a hearing on the motion to suppress. (*See generally*, 3/28/16 Tr.) At the hearing, Ms. Fuller's counsel and the State stipulated that Ms. Fuller's vehicle's front tire crossed the fog line. (3/28/16 Tr., p.3, L.10 – p.4, L.1.) That stipulation, combined with the officer's dash-cam video recording (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 1 to the Suppression Hearing), constituted all of the evidence introduced at the hearing. (3/28/16 Tr.) After hearing argument from the parties, the district court took the matter under advisement. (3/28/16 Tr., p.4, L.22 – p.15, L.9.) The district court then held another hearing during which it orally granted the motion to suppress, finding that the Idaho Supreme Court's decision in *State v. Neal*, 159 Idaho 439 (2015), was fact-specific and did not hold that crossing the fog line was a violation of I.C. § 49-637.¹ (4/1/16 Tr., p.5, Ls.8-25.) The court found "that the principle of law articulated in *Neal* is that the fog line is not a road barrier," but is "a warning that one is getting near the road barrier." (4/1/16 Tr., p.5, Ls.22-25.) The district court found that touching or crossing the fog line is not a violation of Idaho law, and, because the sole basis of the stop was

. . . .

 $^{^{1}}$ Although the parties stipulated that Ms. Fuller's front tires crossed the fog line (3/28/16 Tr., p.3, L.20 – p.4, L.1), the district court told the parties that it had watched the video and found that the tires touched, but did not cross, the fog line (4/1/16 Tr., p.4, Ls.12-19). Ultimately, the court accepted the stipulation. *Id*.

the purported traffic violation, there was no reasonable and articulable suspicion of criminal activity by Ms. Fuller. (4/1/16 Tr., p.6, L.12 - p.7, L.10.)

The district court held that Ms. Fuller was unlawfully seized, and the evidence obtained as a result of the seizure was inadmissible. (4/1/16 Tr., p.7, Ls.16-22.) The district court granted the motion to suppress for the reasons it stated at the April 1, 2016 hearing. (R., pp.84-85.)

The State appealed. (Augmentation, pp.1-5.)

<u>ISSUE</u>

Did the district court correctly grant Ms. Fuller's motion to suppress?

ARGUMENT

The District Court Correctly Granted Ms. Fuller's Motion To Suppress

A. <u>Introduction</u>

Ms. Fuller moved the district court to suppress the evidence seized because the traffic stop was not based on reasonable, articulable suspicion that she was driving contrary to Idaho law and thus violated her constitutional rights. This Court should affirm the order granting Ms. Fuller's motion to suppress.

B. Standard Of Review

This Court uses a bifurcated standard to review a district court's order on a motion to suppress. *State v. Danney*, 153 Idaho 405, 408 (2012); *see also State v. Hunter*, 156 Idaho 568, 571 (Ct. App. 2014) (same). This Court will accept the trial court's findings of fact "unless they are clearly erroneous." *State v. Wulff*, 157 Idaho 416, 418 (2014). "At a suppression hearing, the power to assess the credibility of witnesses, resolve factual conflicts, weigh evidence, and draw factual inferences is vested in the trial court." *State v. Ellis*, 155 Idaho 584, 587 (Ct. App. 2013). This Court exercises free review of "the trial court's application of constitutional principles to the facts found." *Danney*, 153 Idaho at 408.

C. <u>The District Court Correctly Granted Ms. Fuller's Motion To Suppress</u>

The State has not challenged any of the district court's factual findings in this appeal. As such, the question for this Court is whether, in light of the facts found by the district court, the district court erred in granting Ms. Fuller's motion to suppress. Ms. Fuller submits that the district court's ruling granting her motion to suppress was

amply supported both by the evidence and by governing case law, and that this Court should therefore affirm the district court.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution secures to the people the right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. *State v. Willoughby*, 147 Idaho 482, 486 (2009). Fourth Amendment protections have been incorporated to apply to the states through the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.² *State v. Bishop*, 146 Idaho 804, 810 (2009).

"When a defendant moves to exclude evidence on the grounds that it was obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment, the government carries the burden of proving that the search or seizure in question was reasonable." *Id.* at 811. In addition, even brief detentions of individuals must meet the Fourth Amendment's requirement of reasonableness. *Id.* This means that the detention must be both justified at its inception and reasonably related in scope to the circumstances that originally justified the interference in the first place. *Id.*

When the discovery of the evidence to be used against a defendant was the product of his illegal seizure, it is rightfully suppressed as "fruit of the poisonous tree." See Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 478-488 (1963).

In *Neal*, the Idaho Supreme Court held that Idaho Code Section 49-637 "does not provide any definitions that clarify what is meant by 'within a single lane', or, more to the

² Although the attorney who presented and argued Ms. Fuller's suppression motion made a general argument that Article I § 17 of the Idaho Constitution provides greater protection than the Fourth Amendment, citing several Idaho cases in which the Court found the Idaho Constitution provided greater protections (R., pp.52-53), no specific authority was cited regarding traffic stops such as the one in Ms. Fuller's case. (R., pp.52-53; see 3/28/16 Tr.) Therefore, Ms. Fuller will rely upon Fourth Amendment jurisprudence in this appeal.

point, 'as nearly as practicable entirely within a single lane." *Id.* 159 Idaho 445. The *Neal* Court thus concluded the statute was ambiguous where it was reasonably susceptible to more than one meaning. *Id.* In its analysis, the Court held "any ambiguity in a statute should be resolved in favor of a reasonable operation of the law." *Id.* (quoting *Lawless v. Davis*, 98 Idaho 175, 177 (1977)).

The *Neal* Court found that "[I.C. §] 49-637(1) regulates the interaction of traffic between lanes, not a driver's interaction with the sidewalk, curb, or shoulder." *Id*.

Section 49-630(1) does not prohibit driving anywhere on the right side half of the roadway except sidewalks, shoulders, berms, and rights-of-way. Construing this section together with 49-637(1) does not prohibit driving on an edge line in the roadway. There was no allegation here that Neal was driving on the shoulder, therefore, he was still in the roadway.

Id. The Court found that the edge line's "purpose is not to create a lane boundary but to inform the driver of the road's edge so that under certain conditions the driver can safely maintain his or her position on the roadway." *Id.* at 445-446.

The Court held:

Where the lines are absent, the edge of the road is considered the curb, and it is an unreasonable interpretation to conclude that where there is a stripe near the edge, the inside of the stripe marks the limits of where a driver's tires can go, but where it is absent, the curb—which would be located at the outer edge of the painted line—marks those limits.

Neal, 159 Idaho at 446. The Court found that fog lines were painted on the roadway itself, and not on the sidewalks, curbs, shoulders, etc. *Id.* The Court held that "[t]he evil to be remedied in this statute is to prevent dangerous, unsafe movement out of a lane of traffic and into another lane of traffic." *Id.* at 447. That is, I.C. § 49-637(1) "regulates the interaction of traffic between lanes, not a driver's interaction with the sidewalk, curb, or shoulder." *Id.* at 446.

While the *Neal* Court limited its holding to "driving onto but not across the line marking the right edge of the road," the Court provided no additional reasoning to support a conclusion that simply crossing the edge of the fog lane, while maintaining travel on the roadway, constitutes a violation of I.C. § 49-637(1). Further, the plain language of the statue does not give drivers notice that crossing the fog line is a ticketable offense. The language requiring drivers to drive their vehicles "as nearly as practicable" within a single lane does not lend itself to a conclusion that failing to do so is a violation of Idaho law. I.C. § 49-637(1).

In this case, the district court found:

The Court did review, as I indicated previously, the dash-cam of the arresting officer or the -- yeah, the arresting officer. The Court could not conclude from that view of the video that the tires had all the way crossed over that line; however, I'm accepting that stipulation of fact by the parties and so the Court deems that if they crossed over, it was a little bit. But the parties seem to agree that it crossed -- the tires crossed over completely.

(4/1/16 Tr., p.4, Ls.10-18.)

The district court held:

The Court reads the Neal case in a way that I don't think supports the State's position in this. I'm going to grant the motion to suppress. The State's position as the Court understood it was that the Neal case was fact-specific and it was.

The facts in the Neal case being that the Court determined that the tires of the vehicle going onto the fog line does not constitute a violation of traffic code, but that by implication or by reasonable inference, tires crossing over the fog line does violate traffic code.

There was quite a bit of language that the State referred to and quoted it appropriately. However, this Court finds that the overall reading of the Neal case is of -- and I don't understand quite the phrase that the State referred to -- but the overall reading of this case leads the Court to the conclusion that the principle of law articulated in Neal is that the fog line is not a road barrier; the fog line is, in fact, a warning that one is getting close to the road barrier.

Therefore, it makes sense that tires traveling onto the fog line does not constitute a traffic violation, it just constitutes driving on the warning line. And the Court also finds that crossing over the fog line under these circumstances did not constitute a traffic violation. The Court could see even if the tires crossed over just a little bit where it completely crossed that fog line, the vehicle did not leave its lane of travel. It did not drive off the road. It stayed on the lane of travel. Getting towards the edge, for sure, but maintained its lane of travel.

That's why the Court asked the State, Is [sic] the basis of this stop purely the traffic violation? The answer to that question was, Yes [sic]. And so based on that theory that the basis of this stop was purely the traffic violation, the Court finds that there was not a traffic violation here and therefore there was not a reasonable basis on which to pull Ms. Fuller over.

(4/1/16 Tr., p.5, L.6 – p.6, L.18.) The Court added that it would have considered Ms. Fuller's vehicle drifting within its lane of travel—touching the fog line twice—as possible indicia of inattention, sleepiness, or possible DUI, but the State only argued that it was a traffic violation, "and therefore, no reasonable and articulable suspicion of criminal activity from which the law enforcement was justified in pulling over Ms. Fuller." (4/1/16 Tr., p.6, L.19 - p.7, L.10.)

The district court correctly suppressed the evidence seized as the result of the search of Ms. Fuller's vehicle where Officer Ballman did not have reasonable, articulable suspicion that her vehicle was being driven contrary to Idaho law. Where Ms. Fuller merely crossed the fog line but did not leave the lane of travel, she was complying with the statute requiring "[a] vehicle to be driven as nearly as practicable entirely within a single lane." Ms. Fuller respectfully requests that this Court affirm the district court's order suppressing the evidence.

CONCLUSION

Ms. Fuller respectfully requests that this Court affirm the district court's Order Granting Motion to Suppress.